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Howard S. Trickey 
Matthew Singer 
JERMAIN DUNNAGAN & OWENS, P.C. 
3000 A Street, Suite 300 
Anchorage, AK  99503 
Phone:  907-563-8844 
Fax:  907-563-7322 
 
Counsel for Plaintiff 
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF ALASKA 
 
 

PAUL BLAKESLEE,   ) 
      ) 
   Plaintiff,  ) 
      ) 
vs.      ) 
      ) 
SHAW INFRASTRUCTURE, INC., ) 
      ) 
   Defendant.  ) 
      )   Case No. 3:09-cv-00214-RRB 
 
 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 
 Plaintiff Paul Blakeslee, by and through his undersigned attorneys, for his 

Complaint against Shaw Infrastructure, Inc. does allege as follows: 

PARTIES 
 

1. Paul Blakeslee is a resident of Anchorage, Alaska and, up until he was 

wrongfully terminated on October 6, 2008, Mr. Blakeslee was employed by Shaw 

Infrastructure, Inc. to perform work on military installations located in Anchorage, 

Alaska. 
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2. Shaw Infrastructure, Inc. (“Shaw”) is a Louisiana corporation that provides 

contract services to the United States military at installations located within the State of 

Alaska.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This complaint asserts claims under both federal and state laws.  Because 

the amount in controversy exceeds $100,000, this court has diversity jurisdiction under 

28 U.S.C. § 1332.  The court also has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

4. Venue is proper in this court because the facts and circumstances that give 

rise to this action arose in the District of Alaska. 

5. Shaw Infrastructures, Inc. is subject to personal jurisdiction in this district 

because it performed the unlawful conduct complained of within the State of Alaska and 

it engages in business within the District of Alaska.   

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

6. Mr. Blakeslee’s employment with Shaw began in June 2003.   

7. For five and a half years, Mr. Blakeslee successfully managed a workforce 

consisting of approximately 40 employees.  

8.  Mr. Blakeslee maintained an outstanding reputation among his 

subordinates, co-workers and government contract administrators.  Mr. Blakeslee earned 

exemplary job performance reviews each year, including a certificate of appreciation for 

five years of service to Shaw.  Mr. Blakeslee consistently received a “4” ranking in all 

performance criteria in every performance review.  According to Shaw’s employee 
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performance rubric, a “4” rating places Mr. Blakeslee in the top 15% of all Shaw 

employees. 

9. On Friday, September 5, 2008, employee Bea Campbell, work control clerk 

and one of Mr. Blakeslee’s subordinates, came to Mr. Blakeslee’s office complaining 

about Project Manager Richard Lantz, and Site Manager of Shaw’s Fort Richardson 

office, Thomas Stockmaul.  Mr. Blakeslee informed Ms. Campbell that he intended to 

write a letter to Shaw to inform Shaw of Mr. Lantz’s fraudulent activities against Shaw 

and the federal government, and of Mr. Stockmaul’s abysmal record as a supervisor and 

manager. 

10. On Monday, September 8, 2008 at 8:30 a.m., Mr. Stockmaul called Mr. 

Blakeslee to a meeting in Mr. Lantz’s office.  Mr. Lantz asked Mr. Blakeslee what his 

intentions were about his job.  Mr. Lantz made a direct statement about Mr. Blakeslee’s 

age and indicated that Mr. Blakeslee “might want to go out in a blaze of glory.”  Mr. 

Blakeslee informed Mr. Lantz that he had no intention of resigning.  Mr. Lantz then 

indicated they were considering eliminating Mr. Blakeslee’s position.  Lantz and 

Stockmaul also made false accusations about Mr. Blakeslee’s attendance, which Mr. 

Blakeslee denied, and the meeting ended. 

11. When Mr. Blakeslee informed Mr. Lantz that he had no intention of 

retiring, Mr. Lantz threatened to eliminate his job.   

12. On September 19, 2008, Mr. Blakeslee sent Shaw a letter outlining the 

fraudulent practices by Shaw employee Richard Lantz and the incompetent and unlawful 

managerial style of employee Thomas Stockmaul. 
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13. Mr. Blakeslee’s letter indicated that Mr. Lantz was in business with two 

other individuals, Steven Helstrom and Alvin Whitney, to form American Leasing, LLC 

in Fairbanks, Alaska.  American Leasing’s practice was to buy equipment, and then lease 

that equipment back to Shaw at rates much higher than the going market rate.  Shaw 

would then submit invoices to the U.S. Government for reimbursement for the leased 

equipment.  Mr. Blakeslee outlined an example of this practice when American Leasing 

leased a vacuum truck to Shaw for $9,000 a month.  This rate is several magnitudes 

higher than the market rate for such a truck.  Additionally, all necessary maintenance and 

repairs for leased equipment were to be performed by the leasing company.  As Mr. 

Blakeslee’s letter indicated, Shaw paid expenses in clear violation of Shaw policies. 

14. In the same letter Mr. Blakeslee also outlined the poor management style 

and unlawful conduct of Thomas Stockmaul.  Examples included:  Inappropriate sexual 

remarks and innuendo about a pregnant employee in front of her fellow co-workers that 

was tantamount to sexual harassment; preferential treatment of co-workers by Mr. 

Stockmaul; and the constant barrage of humiliating, insulting and discriminatory remarks 

by Mr. Stockmaul directed toward his co-workers and subordinates, rising to the level of 

a hostile work environment. 

15. Rather than investigate these serious infractions identified by Mr. 

Blakeslee, Shaw Infrastructure, Inc. retaliated against him by wrongfully terminating 

him.   
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16. On the morning of October 6, 2008, Mr. Lantz and Mr. Stockmaul 

informed Mr. Blakeslee that his position had been eliminated.  Mr. Blakeslee was asked 

to pack his personal things and leave that day.   

COUNT I  
RETALIATORY DISCHARGE IN VIOLATION OF FALSE CLAIMS ACT 

31 U.S.C §§ 3729-3733 
 

17. This complaint incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

18. By making a good faith report of fraudulent contracting practices, Mr. 

Blakeslee engaged in activity protected by the False Claims Act. 

19. Mr. Blakeslee was wrongfully terminated in retaliation for engaging in that 

protected activity.   

20. Shaw’s wrongful termination violated the False Claims Act and caused Mr. 

Blakeslee to suffer damages in excess of $100,000, the precise amount to be proved at 

trial.   

21. Mr. Blakeslee is entitled to all relief afforded to him under the False Claims 

Act.   

COUNT II 
WRONGFUL TERMINATION IN VIOLATION OF AS 18.80.220 

 
22. This complaint incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

23. Mr. Blakeslee was an exemplary employee and was, at all times relevant, 

more than 40 years old.   

24. Shaw discriminated against Mr. Blakeslee and ultimately terminated him 

because of his age. 
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25. Shaw’s wrongful termination violated AS 18.20.220(a)(1) and caused Mr. 

Blakeslee to suffer damages in excess of $100,000, the precise amount to be proved at 

trial.   

26. Shaw also terminated Mr. Blakeslee after he reported conduct that is 

prohibited by AS 18.80.200–.280, and such retaliatory discharge violates AS 

18.20.220(a)(4).   

27. Mr. Blakeslee is entitled to all relief afforded by Alaska law. 

COUNT III 
WRONGFUL TERMINATION IN VIOLATION OF PUBLIC POLICY 

 
28. This complaint incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

29. Shaw’s actions including retaliating against Mr. Blakeslee for reporting 

and/or opposing unlawful conduct, as well as the other things discussed above, constitute 

the tort of wrongful termination in violation of the public policy of the State of Alaska.  

30. As a result of Shaw’s wrongful termination in violation of public policy, 

Mr. Blakeslee suffered damages in excess of $100,000, the precise amount to be proved 

at trial.   

COUNT IV 
BREACH OF THE COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING 

31. This complaint incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

32. In Alaska, all employment contracts contain an implied covenant of good 

faith and fair dealing. 

33. Shaw had a policy that expressly required its employees to report 

contracting fraud. 
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34. Shaw breached the covenant of good faith and fair dealing when it 

terminated Mr. Blakeslee without cause and in retaliation after he complied with the 

company policy and reported contracting fraud. 

35. As a result of Shaw’s breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, 

Mr. Blakeslee suffered damages, in excess of $100,000, the precise amount to be proven 

at trial. 

COUNT V 
PUNITIVE DAMAGES 

 
36. This complaint incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

37. Shaw’s conduct in this matter was outrageous, including acts done with 

malice or bad motives.   

38. Shaw’s conduct evidenced reckless indifference to the interest of another 

person. 

39. In order to punish and deter such wrongful conduct, Shaw should be 

ordered to pay punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial.   

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, PAUL BLAKESLEE asks this court to enter judgment in his 

favor, including: 

1. An award of all available damages, including actual, consequential, 

statutory, special and punitive damages, plus pre-judgment and post-judgment interest, in 

an amount to be proven at trial in excess of $100,000. 

2. An award of attorney’s fees and costs. 
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3. Such other relief, including equitable relief, as the court may deem 

reasonable and proper in the interests of justice. 

 Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this 23rd day of February, 2010.  
 
JERMAIN DUNNAGAN & OWENS, P.C. 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Paul Blakeslee 

 
 
     By: s/ Howard S. Trickey   

  Howard S. Trickey 
      Alaska Bar No. 7610138 
      htrickey@jdolaw.com 

 
 
     By: s/ Matthew Singer    

  Matthew Singer 
      Alaska Bar No. 9911072 
      msinger@jdolaw.com  

3000 A Street, Suite 300 
  Anchorage, AK  99503 

Phone:  907-563-8844 
Fax:  907-563-7322 

 
 

 
 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
I hereby certify that on February 23, 2010, 
a true and correct copy of the foregoing  
document was served electronically on 
the following counsel of record: 
 
Douglas S. Parker 
Littler Mendelson, P.C. 
dparker@littler.com 
 
      s/Matthew Singer   
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